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I. Introduction and Applicability

This document sets forth the policy of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
for assessing civil penalties for violations of certain Clean Air Act provisions concerning motor
vehicles and motor vehicle engines, and non-road engines and equipment (“Penalty Policy” or
“Policy”). This Penalty Policy adheres to the EPA Policy on Civil Penalties (EPA General
Enforcement Policy #GM-21, February 16, 1984, recodified as PT.1-1), and 4 Framework for
Statute-Specific Approaches to Penalty Assessments (EPA General Enforcement Policy #GM-22,
February 16, 1984, recodified as PT.1-2) (collectively referred to in this Penalty Policy as the
Policy on Civil Penalties). Accordingly, the purposes of this Policy are to deter potential
violators, to ensure that EPA assesses fair and equitable civil penalties, and to expedite the
resolution of claims arising from certain categories of non-compliance with the Act.

This Penalty Policy applies to violations of Title II of the Clean Air Act (Act) — Emission
Standards for Moving Sources, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7521 - 7590, and regulations promulgated
thereunder, that apply to vehicles and engines.! These provisions require that vehicles and
engines be certified by EPA to meet emissions standards that are specific to each category and
size of vehicle or engine. They also include requirements for record-keeping, emissions
labeling, reporting of emission control defects, and warranties of vehicle/engine emission-related
components. The Title II provisions also prohibit tampering with, or installing devices to defeat,
the emissions controls of a vehicle or engine.

Thus, this Policy applies to violations such as the following:

. The manufacture and sale, or the importation, of uncertified vehicles or engines in
violation of Section 203(a)(1) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7522(a)(1);

. The manufacture and sale, or the importation, of vehicles or engines without an
appropriate emissions label, in violation of Section 203(a)(4)(A) of the Act, 42
U.S.C. § 7522(a)(4)(A);

' The regulations pertaining to motor vehicles and engines include the following:

Highway vehicles and engines 40 C.F.R. Part 86

Non-road diesel engines 40 C.F.R. Parts 89 and 1039
Small non-road gasoline engines 40 C.F.R. Part 90

Large non-road gasoline engines 40 C.F.R. Part 1048

Marine gasoline engines 40 C.F.R. Part 91

. Marine diesel engines 40 C.F.R. Part 94 and 1039
Locomotives 40 C.F.R. Part 92
Recreational vehicles and engines 40 C.F.R. Part 1051
General requirements 40 C.F.R. Part 1068




. The manufacture and sale, or the importation, of vehicles or engines without an
appropriate emissions warranty, in violation of Section 203(a)(4)(D) of the Act,
42 U.S.C. § 7522(a)(4)(D);

. Violations of the emission control tampering prohibition under Section
203(a)(3)(A) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7522(a)(3)(A); and

. Violations of the emission control defeat device prohibition under Section
203(a)(3)(B) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7522(a)(3)(B).

Under Section 205(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7524(a), the maximum penalty for
violations of the vehicle and engine requirements under Title II of the Act is $25,000 per vehicle
or engine, with two exceptions. The maximum penalty for violations of the tampering
prohibition when committed by any person other than a manufacturer is $2,500 per vehicle, and
the maximum penalty for violations of the defeat device prohibition is $2,500 per device.

These maximum penalty amounts were increased from $25,000 to $32,500 and from $2,500 to
$2,750 for violations occurring after March 15, 2004, through January 12, 2009, and to $37,500
and $3,750 for violations occurring thereafter (see Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment
Rule, 69 Fed. Reg. 7121 (Feb. 13, 2004) and Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adlustment Rule,
73 Fed. Reg. 75340 (Dec. 11, 2008)).

Section 205(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7524(b) provides the factors that a court should
take into account when determining the amount of any penalty in a judicial action under Title II
of the Act:

In determining the amount of any civil penalty to be assessed [in a
civil judicial action] the court shall take into account the gravity of
the violation, the economic benefit or savings (if any) resulting
from the violation, the size of the violator’s business, the violator’s
history of compliance with [Title II of the Act], action taken to
remedy the violation, the effect of the penalty on the violator’s
ability to continue in business, and such other matters as justice
may require.

Section 205(c)(2) specifies that these same factors should be taken into account in an
administrative penalty assessment for violation of requirements under Title II of the Act.

Section 205(c)(1) of the Act specifies that, in lieu of referring a case to the Department of
Justice to commence a civil action in district court, EPA may enforce the violation through an
administrative penalty assessment, provided the penalty amount is less than $200,000, unless
EPA and the Department of Justice agree that a matter with a larger penalty is appropriate for
administrative penalty assessment. This penalty cap on administrative actions was increased to
$295,000 under the 2008 Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule.




EPA’s administrative enforcement of Title II of the Act may result in settlement terms
with the violator that are memorialized in informal administrative settlement agreements (ASA),
in lieu of commencing a formal administrative action to assess civil penalties or filing a
complaint in federal district court. In these informal agreements the violator typically agrees to
pay a penalty and to undertake specific remedial actions. If the violator complies with the terms
of the ASA, EPA agrees to treat the matter as resolved and to forego initiation of a formal
enforcement action. An ASA also specifies that if the violator does not comply with the terms of
the ASA, EPA reserves the right to seek enforcement based on the violation or to enforce the
terms of the ASA. In addition, EPA reserves the right to enforce violations of the requirements
of Title II of the Act through the formal EPA administrative process under 40 C.F.R. Part 22, or
through referral to the Department of Justice for filing in federal district court.

Accordingly, this Penalty Policy should be used to calculate settlement amounts for
cases that are settled through administrative settlement agreements. This Policy also should be
used to calculate the appropriate penalty to assess under the Consolidated Rules of 40 C.F.R.
Part 22. However, this Policy is not intended to and does not control the penalty amount
requested in judicial actions. It is EPA’s policy, in judicial actions, to assert a claim for up to
the maximum penalty allowable under the Act. Therefore, after a case has been referred to the
Department of Justice, use of this Policy is limited to agreements reached with defendants
through negotiated settlements.

The procedures set forth in this document are intended solely for the guidance of
government personnel. They are not intended and cannot be relied upon to create rights,
substantive or procedural, enforceable by any party in litigation with the United States. The
Agency reserves the right to act at variance with this Policy and to change it at any time without
public notice. This Penalty Policy is effective immediately with respect to all cases in which the
first penalty offer has not yet been transmitted to the opposing party.

This Penalty Policy first describes how to calculate the “economic benefit penalty
component” and the “gravity penalty component,” which, when added together, results in the
“preliminary deterrence amount.” The Policy then discusses adjustment factors that are applied
to the gravity-based component of the penalty or to the preliminary deterrence amount to arrive
at an “initial penalty target figure,” which is the penalty amount used at the beginning of
negotiations with a violator. Finally, the Policy describes the process for any further adjustments
to the initial penalty target figure during negotiations with the violator, which results in the
penalty amount that is appropriate for resolving the case, called the “adjusted penalty target
figure.”

I The Preliminary Deterrence Amount

The Policy on Civil Penalties establishes deterrence as an important goal of penalty
assessment. More specifically, the Policy on Civil Penalties provides that any penalty should, at
a minimum, remove any significant economic benefit resulting from noncompliance. In
addition, it should include an amount beyond recovery of the economic benefit to reflect the
seriousness of the violation. That portion of the penalty which recovers the economic benefit of
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noncompliance is referred to as the “economic benefit component;” that part of the penalty
which reflects the seriousness of the violation is referred to as the “gravity component.” When
combined, these two components yield the “preliminary deterrence amount.”

This section provides guidelines for calculating both the economic benefit component
and the gravity component.

A. The Economic Benefit Component

To ensure that penalties obtained in settlement recover any significant economic benefit
of noncompliance,” it is necessary to have reliable economic benefit calculation methods. This
section sets out guidelines for computing the economic benefit component. It addresses three
categories of economic benefit: delayed costs; avoided costs; and the benefit from competitive
advantage gained as a result of the violation. This third type of benefit is referred to as “beyond
BEN benefit” or “BBB.” This section also describes a “rule of thumb” method for calculating
the economic benefit resulting from certain types of violations of the mobile source vehicle and
engine requirements. The “rule of thumb” described in this Policy should be used by the case
team to estimate the economic benefit of noncompliance only when information regarding the
actual cost of noncompliance is not available.

l. Benefit from Delayed Costs

In many instances, the economic advantage to be derived from noncompliance is the
ability to delay making the expenditures necessary to achieve compliance. Delayed costs fall
into two categories: capital expenses and one-time non-depreciable costs necessary to achieve
compliance with the relevant environmental requirement. Capital expenses are simply things
that wear out and need replacement.” One time non-depreciable expenses do not involve things
that wear out and are thus nonrecurring.* A company would achieve an economic benefit by
deferring either of these costs until it either decides on its own to comply or until EPA takes an
enforcement action.

? The “economic benefit of noncompliance” is sometimes referred to as “BEN.”

* The distinction between these categories of delayed costs is appropriate because of the different
tax treatment they receive and as a consequence, the potential benefit gained by the violator.

* In addition, if a one-time outlay is a tax deductible business expense, then the tax benefit from
that expense is enjoyed in the year the company makes that expenditure. In contrast, a firm with
the depreciable expenditure gets to deduct only a portion of that piece of equipment’s cost every
year for the applicable depreciation period. In the rare case where they are not deductible (e.g.,
the purchase of land to site a waste water pretreatment plant) the firm does not enjoy any tax
benefit.




Examples of violations that may result in savings from deferred capital expenses are the
following:

. Failure to install production-line equipment, or to implement production-line
process changes, to ensure that vehicles or engines are manufactured to meet
emission standards; or

. Failure to install required monitoring or testing equipment at a factory producing
vehicles or engines to ensure that the vehicles or engines will meet emission
standards.

Examples of violations that may result in savings from deferred one-time non-depreciable
expenses are the following:

. Delayed installation of appropriate emission controls in engines being distributed
in commerce;

. Failure to conduct a one-time test in a timely manner; and
. Delay in obtaining certification that an engine meets applicable regulatory
standards.

In some circumstances, noncompliance with mobile source vehicle or engine requirements
may not result in an economic benefit to the violator from delayed costs. However, to the extent
economic benefits from delayed costs are present in mobile source vehicle or engine cases, these
costs should be computed using EPA’s BEN model.’

5 EPA has five models for dealing with civil penalty issues:

. BEN — Calculates a violator’s economic benefit from delayed or avoided costs;

. ABEL - Evaluates a corporation’s or partnership’s ability to afford penalties and
compliance costs;

. PROJECT — Calculates the actual cost of supplemental environmental projects to
violators;

. INDIPAY — Evaluates an individual’s ability to afford penalties and compliance costs;
and

. MUNIPAY — Evaluates a municipality’s ability to afford penalties and compliance
costs.

Information about these models is available at: www.epa.gov/compliance/civil/econmodels/
index.html.



2. Benefit from Avoided Costs

Many types of violations enable a violator to avoid certain costs associated with
compliance. Examples of benefits from avoided costs in mobile source vehicle or engine cases
include the following:®

. Failure to conduct the testing and submit the information necessary to obtain an
emissions certificate of conformity for vehicles or engines introduced into
commerce or imported by the violator;

. Failure to install pollution control devices on vehicles or engines, which normally
result in uncertified vehicles or engines;’ and

. Importing uncertified, instead of certified, vehicles or engines into the United
States.

As discussed below, for settlement purposes a “rule of thumb” approach may be
appropriate for calculating the benefit from violations resulting from introducing into commerce
or importing uncertified vehicles or engines. When the rule of thumb approach is not appropriate,
the economic benefit of avoided costs should be computed using the BEN methodology.
However, there are instances where neither the rule of thumb nor the BEN methodology are
appropriate for calculating the actual economic benefit of noncompliance. In those instances, the
litigation team should develop and use a case-specific method of calculating economic benefit,

® The normal avoided costs BEN addresses are costs that occur annually such as electricity,
labor, materials, and insurance premiums. However, most avoided costs in the mobile source
program fall into the category of one-time, non-depreciable expenditures that are avoided, not
delayed, which requires a specific setting in the BEN model. Those unfamiliar with the BEN
model and how to apply it in these situations are urged to contact the Agency’s Financial Issues
Helpline at (888) 326-6778.

7 For purposes of this Penalty Policy, a vehicle or engine is considered to be “uncertified” if, for
any reason, it is not completely compliant with an EPA emissions certificate of conformity.
Vehicles or engines would therefore be considered uncertified in the following circumstances:

. A certificate of conformity for the vehicles or engines was not sought or obtained
by the manufacturer or importer; or

. A certificate of conformity was obtained for certain vehicles or engines, but the
vehicles or engines were not manufactured in the manner specified in the
certificate. For example, a vehicle or engine manufactured without an emission
control part specified in the manufacturer’s certificate application would be
uncertified.




which should be described in the case documents. In developing such an alternative approach,
the litigation team is strongly advised to consult with the previously mentioned Financial Issues
Helpline at (888) 326-6778.

3. Beyond BEN Benefit

A third category of benefit, which is not the result of avoided or delayed costs, reflects the
benefits to the violator from business transactions that would not have occurred but for the illegal
conduct, and/or the competitive advantage the violator obtained in the marketplace as compared
to companies that have complied with the motor vehicle emission control laws and regulations.
This benefit category is called “beyond BEN benefit” or “BBB.”® Mobile source cases where
BBB may be present are characterized by vehicles or engines that are attractive to consumers
primarily because they offer performance or features not possible with legal vehicles or engines,
or because they can be sold at prices not possible with legal vehicles or engines. Similarly, illegal
defeat devices and emission control tampering may be attractive to consumers primarily because
they result in engine performance not possible with legal engine parts or modifications.

Examples of violations that may include BBB are:

. Introducing into commerce or importing uncertified vehicles or engines where the
engines have been sold and no recall of the engines is possible;

. Sale of emission control defeat devices; and

. Removing or altering pollution control equipment for a fee (e.g., tampering with
mobile source emission control devices).

To adequately remove the economic incentive for violations that include BBB, normally it
is appropriate to base the economic benefit penalty component on the net profits made from the
improper transactions, i.e., the amount the violator’s profits from the sale of uncertified vehicle(s)
or engine(s) exceeded the amounts that would have resulted if the party had sold certified
vehicle(s) or engine(s), the profits from the sale of illegal dvice(s), or the profits from
tampering.’

The BEN methodology is not designed to calculate the economic benefit resulting from
BBB. Where this category of benefit is present, the litigation team should use a case-specific
method of calculating the economic benefit, which should be described in the case documents.

® BBB was formerly referred to as “illegal competitive advantage” or ICA.

? While the net profit would be the normal measure of economic benefit in these situations, the
Agency reserves the right to treat the gross proceeds from the sale of the noncompliant product
or the total fee charged for tampering as the measure of economic benefit in appropriate cases, or
any other measure that is appropriate to the situation.
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For assistance in developing a case-specific method, contact the Financial Issues Helpline at
(888) 326-6778. '

4. Rule of Thumb Estimate of Economic Benefit

The economic benefits that result from the sale of uncertified vehicles or engines may
have elements of both avoided costs and benefit from BBB. In cases where illegal vehicles or
engines are imported but not introduced into commerce, or are introduced into commerce but are
recalled, there will only be BEN-type benefit. Consider, for example, a violator that introduces
into commerce a piece of equipment containing an engine without a catalytic converter when a
catalyst is necessary to meet emission standards. The violator may have avoided the cost of
installing the catalytic converter when the engine was manufactured. In the case of imported
engines, the importer may have purchased a less expensive engine that was manufactured without
a catalyst, thereby avoiding the cost of purchasing a more expensive, fully-compliant engine, for
import into the United States. The violator also may have gained a BBB in the marketplace by
introducing into commerce or importing an engine that cost less to produce or purchase. Under
either analysis, the cost of purchasing and installing the catalytic converter may be used to
approximate the violator’s economic benefit from the introduction into commerce or importation
of the uncertified engine.

In its enforcement of Title II of the Act, EPA has developed a substantial amount of
experience in calculating the economic benefit that results from introducing into commerce or
importing uncertified vehicles or engines. This experience indicates that it is possible to estimate
the benefit through the use of simple formulas. This will be referred to as the “rule of thumb”
method in this Penalty Policy.

In particular, the rule of thumb calculates economic benefit in proportion to engine size,
which is adjusted to reflect the cost of actions the violator takes to remediate uncertified vehicles
or engines. Note that the rule of thumb calculation is generally appropriate for missing emission
controls and similar types of violations. While the litigation team may use the rule of thumb
model for other types of vehicle and engine violations (e.g., warranty violations), the team should
be aware that the model may not represent the best fit for these types of violations, and should
attempt to verify the economic benefit estimate.

a. Rule of Thumb Benefit Calculation

Engines regulated under Title II of the Act range in size from very small (e.g., a
one horsepower string trimmer) to very large (e.g., marine diesel engines can be 100,000
horsepower or larger), and the cost increment to manufacture a certified engine versus an engine
without emission controls is roughly proportional to the engine’s size. This is true regardless of
the engine type (gasoline or diesel). For purposes of this Policy, the following “rule of thumb”
for economic benefit may be used:

. Engines that power cars and light-duty trucks are relatively similar in size (engines
in cars range from about 1 to 8 liters), and as a result, for purposes of this rule of
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thumb economic benefit for all cars and light-duty trucks is calculated based on an
engine size of 250 horsepower."

. The cost of emission controls is also roughly proportional to the engine size, and is
estimated to be about $1 per horsepower. As a result, the rule of thumb for
calculating the per-engine economic benefit from introducing into commerce or
importing an uncertified nonroad engine, recreational vehicle or a heavy-duty
highway vehicle is $1 per horsepower.

. For very small engines (e.g., engines under about 15 horsepower), the cost of
manufacturing a certified engine 1s more than $1 per horsepower. As a result, the
estimated “rule of thumb” economic benefit should be no smaller than $15 per
engine, regardless of the engine’s size. If the engine violation at issue is solely a
missing or defective emission control label, the “rule of thumb” economic benefit
is $5 per engine.

Consider, for example, a hypothetical company, Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that
imported five fork lifts powered by uncertified gasoline engines that are 125 horsepower in size,
and the engines are uncertified because catalytic converters, required by the applicable emissions
certificate of conformity, were not installed. Using the “rule of thumb,” the estimated economic
benefit to Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., for one engine would be 125 x $1 = $125, and the total
unadjusted economic benefit for all five engines would be 5 x $125 = $625.

b. Rule of Thumb Adjustment to Reflect Remedial Actions

This Penalty Policy is intended to provide incentives for companies to remedy violations
involving uncertified vehicles or engines in order to prevent the actual excess emissions that
would result from their use. This remedial action normally takes the form of exporting the
uncertified vehicles or engines out of the United States, recalling and repairing them, or, under
certain limited circumstances, installing proper emissions labels. In such situations, the cost to
the violator of completing these remedial actions can be larger than the economic benefit to the
violator from introducing into commerce or importing the uncertified vehicles or engines.

As aresult, in the case of vehicles or engines that are the subject of appropriate
remediation, the rule of thumb estimate of economic benefit may be reduced or eliminated for
these vehicles or engines as part of a settlement that fully remediates the violation. Thus, if a
violator remediates some, but not all, of the uncertified vehicles or engines at issue in a case, the
economic benefit penalty component should be calculated based on the number of vehicles or

' The actual horsepower of highway and off-highway motorcycles should be used, and not the
250 horsepower assumption.




engines for which remedial actions are not completed.'" Remedial actions may be considered
completed if they occur before a final administrative or civil judicial settlement of the case is
negotiated, or if the remedial actions are a requirement of the settlement agreement.

However, if the litigation team believes that the cost of remedial actions does not offset
the violator’s economic benefit in this manner in any particular case, the reduction in the
economic benefit component of the penalty to reflect remediation should be modified
accordingly. The basis for any such modification should be described in the case documents.

To illustrate this adjustment to the economic benefit, consider once again the example of
Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that imported five fork lifts with uncertified engines with an
estimated economic benefit was $125 per fork lift. Assume that three of these fork lifts were sold
into United States commerce and were not the subject of remediation, but that the importer
exported 2 of these fork lifts before they left the port of entry. As a result, the adjusted economic
benefit should be calculated based on the three fork lifts that were not the subject of remediation,
or3 x $125=18375.

c. Situations Where Use of “Rule of Thumb” is Inappropriate

The rule of thumb method only provides a “first-cut estimate” of the economic benefit of
avoided compliance. For this reason, use of the rule of thumb method is typically inappropriate
for use in situations where a detailed analysis of the economic benefit of noncompliance is needed
to support or defend the Agency’s position. Accordingly, the rule of thumb method generally
should not be used in any of the following circumstances:

. The case team is not confident that the case will settle (or the defendant has not
indicated a desire to settle the alleged violations);

. A hearing is likely on the amount of the penalty;
. The defendant identifies economic benefit factors that are unique to the case; or
. The case development team has reason to believe it will produce a substantially

inaccurate estimate.

' Remediation of violations is relevant to the gravity of violations as well as to economic
benefit. As discussed more fully in the gravity portion of this Penalty Policy, uncertified
vehicles or engines that are allowed to operate in the United States can result in significant
adverse environmental impacts. As a result, the gravity penalty component is larger where the
vehicles or engines are not corrected through recall or other appropriate remediation.
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5. Economic Benefit for Violations Other than Uncertified Vehicles or
Engines

The rule of thumb estimate of economic benefit is also intended to apply primarily to
cases where uncertified vehicles or engines are introduced into commerce or imported (i.e., where
economic benefit is delayed, and/or compliance expenditures are avoided). This rule of thumb
may not be appropriate for other types of mobile source violations. For example, cases involving
tampering with emission controls or the sale of emission control defeat devices do not fit within
the rule of thumb. The rule of thumb also is inappropriate for violations such as failure to report
emission control defects or failure to honor emission control warranties.

As a result, in a case involving violations that are not based on uncertified vehicles or
engines, the litigation team should develop a method for calculating the economic benefit using
the general considerations of delayed cost, avoided cost and benefit from BBB, discussed above.
In this circumstance, the method used to calculate economic benefit should be described in the
case documents.

B. The Gravity Component

As noted above, the Policy on Civil Penalties specifies that for a penalty to achieve
deterrence it should, in addition to recovering any economic benefit of noncompliance, recover an
additional amount to reflect the seriousness of the violation. Similarly, Sections 205(b) and (¢)(2)
of the Act specify that penalties for violations of Title II of the Act should take into account the
gravity of the violations. This section of the Penaity Policy establishes a method that quantifies
the gravity component of the penalty.

The specific objective factors in this Penalty Policy are designed to measure the
seriousness of the violation and reflect the considerations described in the Policy on Civil
Penalties:

. Actual or potential harm. This factor focuses on whether (and to
what extent) the activity of the violator actually resulted in, or was
likely to result in, the emission of a pollutant in violation of the
standards specified for the particular vehicles or engines at issue.

. Importance to the regulatory scheme. This factor focuses on the
importance of the requirement to achlevmg the goals of the Clean
Air Act and its implementing regulations. '

"> For example, the mobile source regulations require that vehicles and engines subject to
emissions certification standards must be permanently labeled, and that the labels contain certain
required emissions and other information. If a manufacturer or importer fails to properly label
vehicles or engines, it becomes more difficult for inspectors to determine compliance of this
equipment with the emissions certification requirements at the time of import. In addition,
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Assigning a dollar figure to represent the gravity of the violations, at its core, involves the
consideration of a variety of factors and circumstances. However, linking the dollar amount of
the gravity component to objective factors is a useful way of ensuring that violations of
approximately equal seriousness are treated similarly.

1. Actual or Potential Harm

In the case of violations of the mobile source requirements for vehicles and engines, the
actual or potential harm focuses on whether, and to what extent, excess emissions result from the
violations. Excess emissions are a function of at least two considerations, and possibly others
depending on the facts of the case: (1) the number of violative engines or vehicles; and (2) the
amount of excess emissions that will be emitted from each uncertified vehicle or engine over the
vehicle’s or engine’s useful life.

The first consideration can be quantified in a straightforward and objective manner. The
number of uncertified vehicles or engines that were imported or introduced into commerce
normally is known or is readily ascertainable (e.g., through company records).

However, the second consideration — the amount of excess emissions attributable to the
violation(s) — may not be known with certainty, because precise quantification would require
emissions testing of the uncertified engines which is time-consuming, resource-intensive, and
may not be possible if the subject engines are not in EPA’s or the violator’s possession.
Nevertheless, the potential for excess emissions normally can be estimated in an objective manner
based on the following considerations: engine size; emission control devices that are missing or
defective; and the effectiveness of actions taken to remedy or mitigate the violation.

a. Engine Size

Similar to the discussion of the economic benefit “rule of thumb” for nonroad engines,
recreational vehicles and heavy-duty highway vehicles, above, the amount of emissions from
such engines or vehicles is proportional to the engine’s size. Thus, the potential for excess
emissions from a nonroad engine, recreational vehicle or heavy-duty highway vehicle also is
proportional to the engine’s size. In addition, the size of engines that are the focus of
enforcement actions normally is known from commercial documents or importation records. As
a result, the gravity penalty component under this Penalty Policy for violations involving
uncertified vehicles and engines is calculated to be proportional to the engine size. In the case of
automobiles and light-duty trucks, gravity is calculated based upon the assumed engine size of
250 horsepower, as discussed above.

consumers who may wish to purchase the equipment cannot easily identify certified vehicles or
engines if the emissions label is inadequate or missing.
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b. Egregiousness

Under this Penalty Policy, the egregiousness of a violation refers to the likelihood that the
emissions from the vehicles or engines in violation may exceed certified levels or applicable
standards. The most egregiousness category of violations, “Major,” applies to violations where
excess emissions are likely to occur. For example, engines with missing or defective catalytic
converters would be expected to have emissions that are greater than those on which proper
catalytic converters had been installed. Most other emission control devices, if missing or
defective, also would be expected to result in increased emissions. Also, violations should be
classified as “Major” if vehicles or engines are uncertified and there is no information about the
emissions from these vehicles or engines, or test data of the uncertified engines shows the engines
to exceed emissions standards (however, see the discussion below for violations involving
emissions labels).

A lesser egregiousness category, “Moderate,” applies to violations involving uncertified
vehicles or engines where the emissions from the vehicles or engines are likely to be similar to
emissions from certified vehicles or engines. For example, a company may have obtained an
emissions certificate from EPA for a particular engine family, but these engines were produced,
introduced into commerce, or imported before the date the certificate was issued. Engines
produced before the certificate was issued would be uncertified, but the company may be able to
show the subject engines are identical to engines produced after the certificate was issued. In this
example, the violation would be classified as “Moderate.”

Another example of a “Moderate” level of egregiousness would involve vehicles or
engines that are properly covered by a certificate of conformity, but the emissions label is missing
altogether or the content of the emissions label is sufficiently deficient that the certification status
of the vehicle/engine cannot be determined. For example, an emissions label violation should be
classified as “Moderate” if information identifying the engine family is missing from the label.

The litigation team should use available information about the vehicles or engines at issue
to determine whether a violation should be classified as Major or Moderate. Normally, if there is
uncertainty about the proper egregiousness classification, a violation should be classified as
Major. The egregiousness category of any particular violation can later be changed, either to a
greater or lesser egregiousness category, based on new information. For example, it would be
appropriate to reclassify the egregiousness of a violation, from Major to Moderate level, if the
violator is able to demonstrate during settlement discussions or in litigation that the vehicles or
engines at issue have emissions do not exceed the certification emissions levels under the
applicable certificate. However, litigation teams should evaluate the probative value and utility
of emissions testing conducted subsequent to initiation of an enforcement action. Such testing,
because it may be time-consuming, normally would not be consistent with the swift resolution of
an enforcement action. As a result, for purposes of settlement, it may be appropriate to limit the
evidence a violator can use to demonstrate the emissions of vehicles or engines to that which is in
existence at the time that the violation was committed. An example of a case where this type of
preexisting evidence is appropriate is where uncertified imported engines that are initially
classified as Major egregiousness because the emissions are unknown. Where the importer
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obtains information from the engine manufacturer demonstrating the imported engines are
identical to engines manufactured under an EPA emissions certificate, the violation may be
reclassified as Moderate. Litigation teams retain the discretion to consider emissions testing
conducted in the course of the negotiations where, taking into account relevant facts and
circumstances, such information assists in determining the extent of the violation.

A third egregiousness category, “Minor,” involves vehicles or engines with emission
control labels that are defective, but the certification status of the engine nevertheless can be
determined from the label. An example of this type of violation is an emissions label that is
attached to the vehicle or engine in a manner that it can be removed without being destroyed or
defaced. A vehicle or engine with an emissions label that is defective in this way could have
emissions that meet applicable standards. Alternatively, engines or vehicles that are labeled as
legal for sale in the United States, but that in fact do not meet applicable emissions and other
standards, should be considered a more egregious violation (Moderate or Major, depending on the
facts of the particular case).

c. Effectiveness of Actions to Remedy or Mitigate the Violation

In general, penalties should be smaller for violators that take effective steps to promptly
remedy any violation upon discovery of the noncompliance. In the context of violations of the
vehicle and engine requirements, the resulting excess emissions often depend on whether, and
how long, the vehicles or engines are used in the United States. Consider, for example, vehicles
that are presented for importation into the United States, but are exported by the importer after the
vehicles are identified as being uncertified at the time of importation. In this example, the
importer would have violated the prohibition against importing uncertified vehicles when the
uncertified vehicles were presented for importation. However, there would be no excess emission
in the United States, because the uncertified vehicles are never used in the United States. Thus, in
this example, there was the potential for excess emissions but no actual excess emissions
occurred because the violative engines were exported. Contrast this example to a case in which
uncertified vehicles are introduced into United States commerce and are operated for the
vehicles’ useful life, resulting in years of actual excess emissions.

Remedial action for uncertified vehicles or engines can occur through several means:  they
can be exported outside the United States; they can be destroyed; or they can be recalled and
repaired.

Therefore, under this Penalty Policy, the gravity penalty component is smaller for
uncertified vehicles and engines if appropriate, effective remedial actions are taken promptly.
The litigation team has discretion to specify the percentage, up to 30 percent, by which the
gravity is increased where remedial action is not taken. A 30 percent increase is used in the case
~ of vehicles or engines for which no remedial action is taken, or where the action is ineffective.
Percentages between zero and 30 percent are appropriate where some but not complete remedial
actions are taken or where the remedial action was delayed.
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2. Importance to the Regulatory Scheme

Even in the absence of harm in the form of excess emissions, the gravity component of the
penalty should reflect the seriousness of the violation in terms of its effect on the regulatory
program. For example, emission control labels are used by EPA and U.S. Customs and Border
Protection (CBP) inspectors to identify whether engines or vehicles are certified and legal for sale
and distribution in the United States. Noncompliance with the emissions labeling requirements
compromises the ability of these inspectors to effectively exclude illegal, uncertified engines
from the United States. Accordingly, the importance of the requirement to the regulatory scheme
should always be taken into account in determining the egregiousness of the violation.

3. Scaling Factors

Violations for which penalties are calculated under this Penalty Policy can involve a very
large range in terms of number of engines and in terms of engine sizes. For example, a case may
involve a single instance in which one or two uncertified light-duty automobiles are imported, or
may involve hundreds of thousands of uncertified cars introduced into commerce by a domestic
manufacturer over a longer period of time. Similarly, nonroad engine violations can involve
engines that range in size from 1 horsepower to over 100,000 horsepower. If a per-horsepower or
per-engine gravity amount is used that results in penalties of an appropriate size for cases
involving a small number and/or small size engines, this same per-horsepower or per-engine
gravity amount may result in penalties that are inappropriately or unreasonably large, beyond
what could reasonably be obtained in-court, in cases where the number of uncertified engines
and/or engine size is very large. As a result, this Penalty Policy includes scaling factors for both
numbers of vehicles or engines, and for engine size in the case of nonroad engines. This scaling
results in gravity penalty components that are appropriate for cases that involve a small number
of engines and/or small horsepower engines, and for cases that involve a large number of engines
and/or large horsepower engines.

4, Business Size

Under the Policy on Civil Penalties, the first goal of penalty assessment is deterrence.
The size of the violator’s business is relevant to determining whether the penalty will have a
sufficient deterrent effect, and is one of the considerations that Section 205(b) of the Act specifies
should be taken into account when calculating a civil penalty.

The amount of the gravity penalty component calculated under this Penalty Policy is
intended to be sufficiently large to create an appropriate deterrent for violations committed by
small companies. For larger companies, however, a larger penalty is necessary to create an
appropriate deterrent. The specific scaling factors for the size of business is set forth in Table 4,
below.
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5. Calculating the Gravity Component of a Penalty

This Penalty Policy uses the gravity considerations and scaling factors described above to
calculate gravity penalty components in the following manner.

. Calculate the base per-vehicle/engine gravity, scaled for engine horsepower;
. Adjust to reflect the egregiousness of the violation and the effect of remediation
(if any);
. Apply scaling factors for the number of vehicles and/or engines; and
. Adjust to reflect the size of thé business.
a. Calculate Base Per-Vehicle or Per-Engine Penalty

The first step is to calculate the base per-vehicle/engine penalty using Table 1 based on
the engine size, in horsepower. In the case of automobiles and light-duty trucks, an engine size of
250 horsepower is used regardless of the actual size of the engines in the vehicles in violation.

In the case of violations of the emissions label requirements, the amount of the base per-
vehicle/engine penalty is the amount calculated using Table 1 or $500, whichever is smaller (i.e.,
the base penalty for label violations is capped at $500 per vehicle/engine).

Table 1. Base Per-Engine Penalty
Calculation
HP $/HP

1-10HP $80
11-100 HP $20
101 - 1,000 HP $5
1,001 - 10,000 HP $1.25
10,000 + HP $0.31

Use of Table 1. Use Table 1 to calculate a base per-engine penalty by multiplying $80 times the
first 10 horsepower of the engine; $20 times the next 90 horsepower; etc., and adding the results
together. For example, consider again the example of Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that imported
five fork lifts powered by uncertified 125 horsepower engines that were missing the catalytic
converter. The base per-engine gravity penalty for one of these engines would be: $80 x 10 =
$800; plus $20 x 90 = $1,800; plus $5 x 25 = $125; or a total of $2,725.
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b. Adjust the Gravity to Reflect Egregiousness

Adjust the per-vehicle/engine base gravity to reflect the egregiousness of the violation (as
discussed above) using the adjustment factors from Table 2.

Table 2. Adjustments to Reflect
Egregiousness
Egregiousness
Category Adjustment Multiplier
Major 6.5
Moderate 3.25
Minor 1

Use of Table 2. Multiply the per-vehicle/engine base gravity times the appropriate adjustment
multiplier from Table 2. Consider once again the example of Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that
imported five fork lifts with uncertified 125 horsepower engines with missing catalytic
converters, where the per-engine gravity was calculated to be $2,725. Based on the discussion
above, a missing catalytic converter would be expected to result in excess emissions. As a result,
the egregiousness of these violations would be classified as Major. The per-engine gravity
adjusted to reflect major egregiousness would be: $2,725 x 6.5 = $17,712.50.

C. Calculate the Multiple Vehicle/Engine Gravity

Use Table 3 to scale the adjusted base per-vehicle/engine penalty to reflect the total
number of vehicles or engines in violation.
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Table 3. Calculation for the Multiple
Vehicle/Engine Gravity.
Number of

. Vehicles/Engines Scaling Factor
1-10 1
11-100 0.2
101 - 1,000 0.04
1,001 - 10,000 0.008
10,001 - 100,000 0.0016

| 100,001 + 0.00032

Use of Table 3. Multiply the adjusted base per-engine gravity times 1.0 for the first ten vehicles
or engines, and add the adjusted base per-engine gravity times 0.2 for the next 90 vehicles or
engines, etc. Consider again the example of Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that imported five fork
lifts with 125 horsepower uncertified engines, where the adjusted base per-engine gravity was
$17,712.50. The multiple engine gravity would be calculated as follows: 5x $17,712.50x 1=
$88,562.50. The average per-engine gravity for this example is still $17,712.50.

In cases involving vehicles or engines with multiple violations, the litigation team has the
discretion to use the sum total of all violations for this penalty factor. For example, if the case
involves two separate shipments, each with 30 noncompliant engines or vehicles with both label
and warranty violations, the penalty could be calculated on the basis of a total of 120 violations.

The litigation team also has the discretion to “group” violations, and re-start the scaling
factor in Table 3 for each group. For example, if the case involves five separate shipments, each
with 30 noncompliant engines or vehicles, the penalty could be calculated on the basis of each
transaction or occurrence giving rise to the violation (e.g., five separate violations of 30 engines
each). Depending on the facts of the case, there may be other relevant criteria or bases on which
to group the violations (e.g., by model, engine type, period of time, etc.).

d. Calculate the Multiple Vehicle/Engine Gravity For Each
Vehicle/Engine Size and/or Egregiousness Categories

A case may include multiple categories of violations representing more than one size
vehicle/engine and/or more than one egregiousness category. In this situation, the violation
categories should be arranged with the violation category having the largest adjusted base per-
vehicle/engine gravity first, and ending with the violation category with the smallest adjusted
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base per-vehicle/engine gravity. These gravity amounts should then be scaled for the number of
vehicles/engines in violation, using Table 3, in sequence.

For example, consider a case that has three different types of violations, each with a
different adjusted per-vehicle/engine gravity amount:

Adjusted Per-
Number of Vehicle/Engine
Vehicles/Engines Gravity
15 $5,000
150 $500
3 $8,000

These violations should be arranged in the order of the adjusted base per-vehicle/engine
gravity, starting with the largest, so the Table 3 scaling can be calculated in this sequence. This
results in a total of ten vehicles/engines in the first Table 3 category, 90 vehicles/engines in the
second category, and 68 vehicles in the third category.

. Number of Vehicles/Engines in
Adjusted Per- Table 3 Category
Number of Vehicle/Engine
Vehicles/Engines Gravity 1 2 3 4
3 $8,000 3
15 $5,000 7 8
150 | $500 82 | 68

In this example, the multiple-vehicle gravity for the first violation category (three
vehicles/engines; $8,000 adjusted base per-vehicle/engine gravity) should be calculated as: 3 x
$8,000 x 1 =$24,000 (an average gravity of $8,000 per vehicle/engine). .

The multiple-vehicle gravity for the second violation category (15 vehicles/engines; $5,000
adjusted base per-vehicle gravity) should be calculated as: 7 x $5,000 x 1 = $35,000, plus 8 x
$5,000 x 0.2 = $8,000, or a total multiple-vehicle/engine gravity of $43,000 (an average gravity of

$2,867 per vehicle/engine).

The multiple-vehicle gravity for the third violation category (150 vehicles/engines; $500
adjusted base per-vehicle/engine gravity) should be calculated as: 82 x $500 x 0.2 = $8,200, plus
68 x $500 x 0.04 = $1,360, or a total multiple-vehicle/engine gravity of $9,560 (an average gravity

of $64 per vehicle/engine).
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The total multiple-vehicle gravity for all the violations in this example would be the sum of
these multiple-vehicle penalties, or $24,000 + $43,000 + $9,560 = $76,560.

As noted in § [I[(B)(S)(c) above (“Calculate the Multiple Vehicle/Engine Gravity”), the
litigation team has the discretion to “group” multiple vehicles or engines where appropriate. If
vehicles or engines are “grouped,” the calculation for this factor should be consistent with that

grouping,.
e. Adjust the Gravity to Reflect Remediation

The next step is to increase the multiple vehicle/engine gravity to reflect the lack of
remediation if the violations are not corrected through appropriate remedial actions. As discussed
above, this adjustment requires the litigation team to specify the number of vehicles or engines that
are the subject of remediation, and the percentage by which the penalty increases for vehicles or
engines that are not the subject of remediation (up to 30 percent).

To make this adjustment, multiply the average per vehicle/engine gravity (calculated in the
previous sections) times the number of vehicles/engines not remediated times the non-remediation
percentage increase assigned by the litigation team. The result of this calculation should be added
to the multiple-vehicle gravity, calculated in the previous section.

For example, consider once again the example of the five, 125 horsepower fork lifts
imported by Vehicle/Engine Inc., with an average per-engine gravity of $17,712.50. Assume that
two of these engines were remediated by being exported, and that three were sold into commerce
in the United States and, as a consequence, were not remediated. Assume further that the litigation
team assigned a non-remediation increase of 30 percent. The incremental penalty amount to
reflect non-remediation would be 3 x $17,712.50 x 0.3 = $15,941.25.

The gravity penalty component adjusted for remediation would be: $88,562.50 +
$15,941.25 = $104,503.75.

f. Adjust the Gravity Penalty Component to Reflect Business Size

Increase the gravity penalty component to reflect the company’s size. This should
typically be calculated on the basis of the company’s net worth (corporations) or net assets
(partnerships or sole propriatorships). There may be instances where business size is more
appropriately determined on some other basis (e.g., gross revenues, number of employees, etc.).
The basis on which the size of business is determined should be described in the case documents.

The amount of these penalty increments are shown in Table 4.
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Table 4. Incremental Gravity Penalty Component Amounts
Based on Business Size
Incremental Gravity Penalty
Size of the Violator’s Business Component Amount
Under $50,000 None
$50,001 - $100,000 $5,000
$100,001 - $1,000,000 $10,000
V$1,OOO,001 - $5,000,000 ' $20,000
$5,000,001 - $20,000,000 $35,000
$20,000,001 - $40,000,000 $50,000
$40,000,001 - $70,000,000 $70,000
Above $70,000,000 $70,000
+ $25,000 for every additional
$30,000,000 or fraction
thereof

In the case of a company with more than one facility or location, the size of the violator is
determined based on the company’s entire operation, and not solely the size of the facility or
location at which the violation occurred. With regard to parent and subsidiary operations, only the
violative entity should be considered, unless the case team determines that the parent company
was involved with or directly oversaw the activities that gave rise to the violation. Where the size
of violator component represents over 50% of the penalty component adjusted for remediation
(from steps a. through e., above), the litigation team has discretion to reduce the size of violator
figure. These thresholds may also be adjusted over time to account for inflation.

Use of Table 4. Once the case team has determined the business size of the violator, it should add
the appropriate amount from Table 4 to the gravity penalty component adjusted for remediation.
Consider, once again, the example of Vehicle/Engine Imports, Inc., that imported five fork lifts,
where the gravity penalty component adjusted for remediation is $104,503.75. Assume this
company had a net worth of over $13 million. Using Table 4, an additional $35,000 would be
added to the penalty. The final gravity penalty component would therefore be calculated by
adding $35,000 + $104,503.75, or $139,503.75.
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g. Calculate the Gravity Penalty Component for Violations of the
Tampering and Defeat Device Prohibitions

The gravity-calculation approach described above also is appropriate for calculating the
gravity penalty component for violations of the tampering prohibition under Section 203(a)(3)(A)
of the Act, and of the prohibition against manufacturing, offering for sale, selling or installing
emission control defeat devices under Section 203 (a)(3)(B) of the Act.

In the case of tampering violations, the gravity penalty component should be calculated as
if the vehicles or engines that were tampered with had been introduced into commerce or imported
in the tampered condition. Thus, for example, if a repair shop removed the catalytic converters
from a number of automobiles, the gravity would be based on engines of 250 horsepower in size,
adjusted to reflect the number of vehicles tampered, egregiousness and remediation, and
incremented to reflect business size. ‘

In the case of violations of the defeat device prohibition, the gravity would be based on the
vehicles or engines on which the defeat devices are installed or intended to be installed, and
calculated as if these vehicles or engines had been introduced into commerce or imported with the
defeat device installed. A separate penalty would be assessed for each defeat device
manufactured, offered for sale, sold or installed.

h. Calculate the Gravity Penalty Component for Other Violations

The method of calculating the gravity penalty component described in this Penalty Policy
is not to apply to cases that involve violations other than uncertified vehicles or engines, or
violations of the tampering or defeat device prohibitions. These other types of violations include,
for example, emission control defect reporting and emission control warranty violations.

As aresult, in a case involving violations that are not based on uncertified vehicles or
engines, or the tampering or defeat device prohibitions, the litigation team should develop a
method for calculating the gravity penalty component using the general gravity penalty
considerations discussed in this Penalty Policy and in the Policy on Civil Penalties. In this
circumstance, the method used to calculate the gravity penalty component should be described in
the case documents.

C. The Preliminary Deterrence Amount

. As discussed above, under the Policy on Civil Penalties the preliminary deterrence amount
is simply the sum of the economic benefit penalty component and the gravity penalty component.
Under this Penalty Policy, the preliminary deterrence amount is the sum of the adjusted economic
benefit and the fully adjusted gravity component, calculated as described above.

Continuing the example of Vehicle/Engine Importers, Inc., that imported five fork lifts
powered by 125 horsepower uncertified engines with missing catalytic converters, the preliminary
deterrence amount is the sum of the economic benefit penalty component ($375) and the gravity
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penalty component ($139,503.75), or $139,878.75. By comparison, if the same forklifts had been
imported by a company with a net worth of $75 million instead of Vehicle/Engine Importers,
Inc.’s $13 million, the preliminary deterrence amount would be $199,878.75.

I11. The Initial Penalty Target Figure

As discussed above, the Policy on Civil Penalties provides that the preliminary deterrence
amount is simply the sum of the economic benefit penalty component and the gravity penalty
component, each calculated as set forth above. In addition to deterrence, however, another goal of
the Policy on Civil Penalties is the equitable treatment of the regulated community. This requires
that penalty policies must have enough flexibility to account for the unique facts of each case and,
at the same time, produce results that are consistent enough to treat similarly-situated violators
similarly. This is accomplished by identifying many of the legitimate differences between cases
and providing guidelines for how to adjust either the gravity component or the preliminary
deterrence amount when those facts occur. The application of these adjustments prior to
commencement of negotiation yields the initial penalty target figure. During the course of
negotiations, the litigation team may further adjust this figure to yield the adjusted penalty target
figure.

Consistent with the Policy on Civil Penalties, this section of the Penalty Policy discusses
the application of adjustment factors to promote flexibility and to identify management techniques
that will promote consistency. These factors are: degree of willfulness and/or negligence; degree
of cooperation/non-cooperation; and the violator’s history of noncompliance. In addition, the
violator’s ability to pay, litigation risk or other unique case-specific factors may also bear upon the
final penalty. Other than a demonstrated inability to pay or litigation risk, these adjustment factors
apply only to the gravity component and not to the economic benefit component. Violators bear
the burden of justifying mitigation adjustments they propose based on these factors.

This Penalty Policy specifies the maximum percentage by which the penalty can be
adjusted for each factor. The litigation team has discretion to select the adjustment percentage for
each factor, within the specified ranges, based on the facts unique to each case, but the rationale
for the amount of adjustment should be described in the case documents. Adjustments that are
greater than the maximum percentages are possible in the case of unusual or extra-ordinary
circumstances, but such larger adjustments must be approved by management of the Air
Enforcement Division.

A. Degree of Willfulness and/or Negligence

Although the requirements of Title Il of the Act and the implementing regulations are strict
liability, this does not render the violator’s willfulness and/or negligence irrelevant, and these
considerations should be reflected in the gravity-based portion of the penalty.

In assessing the degree of willfulness and/or negligence, all of the following points should

be considered in most cases:
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. How much control the violator had over the events constituting the violation;

. The foreseeability of the events constituting the violation;

. Whether the violator took reasonable precautions against the events constituting the
violation;

. Whether the violator knew or should have known of the possibility violations

would occur;

. The level of sophistication within the industry in dealing with compliance issues
and the availability of fully compliant vehicles or engines of the type at issue in the
case being evaluated; and

. Whether the violator in fact knew of the legal requirement that was violated.

It should be noted that this last point, lack of knowledge of the legal requirement, should
never be used as a basis to reduce the gravity-based portion of the penalty. To do so would
encourage ignorance of the law. Rather, knowledge of the law should serve only to enhance
penalty.

Under this Penalty Policy, the litigation team has discretion to increase or decrease the
gravity-based portion of the penalty by up to 20 percent to reflect degree of willfulness and/or
negligence. The basis for the level of this adjustment should be described in the case documents.

B. Degree of Cooperation/Non-Cooperation

The degree of cooperation or non-cooperation of the violator in resolving the violation is
an appropriate factor to consider in adjusting the gravity-based portion of the penalty. Such
adjustments are based on both the goals of equitable treatment and swift resolution of
environmental problems.

A threshold indicator of cooperation or non-cooperation is whether the violator promptly
reported its noncompliance to EPA. Cooperation can be manifested by the violator promptly
reporting its noncompliance. In cases where the litigation team concludes the violator either knew
or should have known about the violations, the team then has a basis for evaluating whether and
how quickly the violator reported the violations to EPA. Assuming such self-reporting is not
required by law or was otherwise not prompted by other governmental action (i.e., the
identification and disclosure of the violation was both voluntary and prompt), such behavior
should result in the mitigation of the gravity-based portion of the penalty.

Consider, for example, a company that imports vehicles with emissions labels that state the
vehicles are required to be equipped with catalytic converters, but catalytic converters are not
installed on the vehicles. The importer could know these vehicles are not certified as soon as the
importer had custody of the imported vehicles because of the discrepancy between the emissions
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labels and the missing catalytic converters; the importer either knew or should have known about
the violations at this point. In this example, the gravity-based portion of the penalty should be
adjusted, either up or down, based upon how quickly the importer notified EPA of the imported
uncertified vehicles after the importer first had custody of them.

There may be other indicia or facts indicating a violator’s degree of cooperation other than
prompt or delayed reporting of the violation. Under this Penalty Policy, the litigation team has
discretion to increase or decrease the gravity-based portion of the penalty by up to 10 percent to
reflect prompt reporting of the violation those actions or behavior bearing upon a violator’s degree
of cooperation. The basis for the level of this adjustment should be described in the case
documents.

Note that voluntary actions taken to remedy the violation, such as initiating a recall of
defective vehicles prior to conclusion of settlement discussions, are addressed as a separate factor
in the initial gravity calculation (see § II(B)(2) “Prompt Correction of Violations,” above), and
should not be considered under this adjustment factor.

C. History of Noncompliance

The Policy on Civil Penalties provides that where a party has violated a similar
environmental requirement before, this is usually clear evidence that the party was not deterred by
the Agency’s previous enforcement response. Unless the previous violation was caused by factors
entirely out of the control of the violator, this is an indication that the gravity-based portion of the
penalty should be adjusted upward.

In deciding how large these adjustments should be, the litigation team should consider the
following points:

. How similar the previous violation was (more similar prior violations should result
in a larger penalty increase);

. How recent the previous violation was (more recent prior violations should result in
a larger penalty increase);

. The number of previous violations (more prior violations should result in a larger
penalty increase); and

. The violator’s efforts to remedy previous violations(s) (prior violations that were
not corrected should result in a larger penalty increase).

A violation generally should be considered “similar” if the Agency’s previous enforcement
response should have alerted the party to a particular type of compliance problem. For purposes of
this Penalty Policy, a “prior violation” includes any act or omission for which a formal
enforcement response has occurred, e.g., notice of violation, settlethent agreement, warning letter,
complaint, consent decree, consent agreement or final order. It also includes any act or omission
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for which the violator has previously been given written notification, however informal, that the
Agency believes a violation existed.

In the case of violations involving uncertified vehicles or engines, a “similar” violation is
one that involves any violation of the vehicle and engine requirements under Title II of the Act or
the regulations implementing those requirements.

In the case of a large corporation with many divisions or wholly-owned subsidiaries, it is
sometimes difficult to determine whether a previous instance of noncompliance should trigger the
adjustment for previous violations. In general, the litigation team should begin with the
assumption that if the same parent corporation controlled both the corporate organization with the
prior violation and the organization with the current violation, the adjustment for history of
noncompliance should apply, unless the violator can demonstrate there was no corporate control or
oversight linkage between the two organizations.

Under this Penalty Policy, the litigation team has discretion to increase the gravity-based
portion of the penalty up to 35 percent for one prior violation, and up to 70 percent for more than
one prior violation. The litigation team should evaluate the considerations discussed above, such
as how similar the prior violation was and how long ago it occurred, when determining the
percentage that is appropriate in any particular case. The basis for the level of this adjustment
should be described in the case documents.

Use of Willfulness/Negligence, Cooperation and History of Noncompliance Factors. This
example will again use Vehicle/Engine Importers, Inc.’s importation of five fork lifts with
uncertified 125 horsepower engines, in which the gravity penalty component was $139,503.75 and
the economic benefit component was $375. Assume the litigation team determined that the
following adjustments are appropriate for this case:

. A 10% increase as an aggravating factor, to reflect the degree of the violator’s
negligence;
. A 5% reduction as a mitigating factor, to reflect the violator’s prompt reporting of

the violation to EPA and subsequent efforts to expeditiously resolve and address the
violation; and

. A 10% increase as an aggravating factor, to reflect the violator’s prior history of
noncompliance with other Title Il requirements.

In this example, there is a net 15% increase of the gravity component of the penalty. Therefore,
the $139,503.75 gravity component is increased by $20,925 (0.15 x $139,503.75 = $20,925), for a
total gravity penalty of $160,428.75. The $375 economic benefit is added to this amount for a
total penalty of $160,803.75.

26




IV. Ability to Pay

As described in the Policy on Civil Penalties and expanded upon in PT.2-1: Guidance on
Determining a Violator's Ability to Pay a Civil Penalty (December 16, 1986) (Previously codified
as GM 56), the Agency will generally not request penalties that are clearly beyond the means of
the violator unless the violations are egregious or the violator refuses to comply on a timely basis.
Therefore, under this Penalty Policy, the violator’s ability to pay a penalty will be considered in
arriving at a specific final penalty amount. At the same time, it is important that the regulated
community not see a discount based on inability to pay as EPA sanctioning the efforts of a
financially troubled company to gain an unfair competitive advantage by violating the vehicle and
engine requirements.

Therefore, EPA reserves the option, in appropriate circumstances, of seeking a penalty that
might put a company in severe financial distress. For example, it normally would not be
appropriate to reduce a penalty for a company with a long history of previous violations. That
long history would demonstrate that less severe measures are ineffective. Similarly, a reduced
penalty would not be appropriate if a company’s business is viable only if the company is able to
continue violating the law. For example, a company found in violation of the defeat device
prohibition should not receive a reduced penalty to stay in business if the company intends to
continue selling defeat devices.

The financial ability to pay adjustment normally will require a significant amount of
financial information specific to the violator. If this information is available prior to
commencement of negotiations, it should be assessed as part of the initial penalty target figure. If
it is not available pre-negotiation, the litigation team should assess this factor after commencement
of negotiations with the violator.

The burden to demonstrate inability to pay, as with the burden of demonstrating the
presence of any mitigating circumstances, rests with the violator. If the violator fails to provide
sufficient information, then the litigation team should disregard this factor in adjusting the penalty
in negotiation."

" Note that under the Environmental Appeals Board (EA.) ruling in In re: New Waterbury, 5
E.A.D. 529 (EA. 1994), in administrative enforcement actions for violations under statutes, such
as the Clean Air Act, that specify ability to pay as a factor in determining the penalty amount,
EPA must prove it adequately considered ability to pay in determining the appropriate penalty.
As aresult, if a mobile source case is enforced through the formal administrative process, and
the defendant is expected to raise its ability to pay as an issue, the litigation team should obtain
enough information to demonstrate the defendant’s ability to pay was adequately considered
when the penalty was calculated. This information can be obtained from the defendant, or from
independent sources such as Dunn and Bradstreet financial reports on the defendant’s business.
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When it is determined that a violator cannot afford the penalty prescribed by this Penalty
Policy, the following options should be considered:

. Delayed payment schedule: A violator may not have the financial resources
necessary to pay the full penalty amount as a one-time payment, but would be able
to pay this amount over a period of months or years. However, administration of
time-payments is a burden on the Agency, so that this option should be considered
only if the Agency is convinced it is not possible for the violator to obtain the funds
necessary to pay the full penalty through borrowing money or the sale of assets. If
time-payments are used, the violator should pay the largest possible amount of the
penalty at the time the case is resolved to reduce the amount of the delayed
payments, and the duration of the time-payments should be no longer than is
necessary. In any case where time-payments are used, the amount of any delayed
payments should be increased to include interest on the delayed payments.

. Straight penalty reductions as a last resort: If this approach is necessary, the
reasons for the litigation team’s conclusions as to the size of the necessary
reduction should be made a part of the case file.

V. Litigation Risk and Other Unigue Factors

A case may present other factors that the litigation team believes justify a further increase
or reduction of the penalty. For example, a case may have particular strengths or weaknesses that
the litigation team believes have not been adequately captured in other areas of this Penalty Policy.
For example, if the facts of the case or the nature of the particular regulatory requirement at issue
reduce the strength of the Agency’s case, this could justify an additional penalty reduction.

Under this Penalty Policy, the litigation team has discretion to increase or decrease the
penalty by up to 10 percent to reflect litigation risk or other unique factors. In some cases, such as
small-scale imports of small engines, the Preliminary Deterrence Amount generated under this
Policy may exceed the value of the goods. In such cases, the litigation team has the discretion to
adjust the Preliminary Deterrence Amount accordingly. In other cases, such as those in which the
amount of excess emissions is significant, the litigation team has the discretion to increase the
penalty to account for the market value of emission offsets. The basis for the level of this
adjustment should be described in the case documents. Adjustments greater than 10 percent are
possible based upon considerations such as those discussed above, but such larger adjustments
must be approved by the Air Enforcement Division Director.

There may be other circumstances in which the facts of a particular case warrants
consideration of other factors not specifically identified or discussed in this Penalty Policy, or the
adjustment based on listed factors at a percentage or in a manner different than described in this
Policy. Such adjustments must also be approved by the Air Enforcement Division Director.
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VL Adjustments to the Initial Penalty Target Figure after Negotiations Have Begun

During the course of settlement negotiations, information often is learned that will cause
the litigation team to further reevaluate the facts that led to the particular penalty components and
adjustments used to calculate the initial penalty target figure for the case. If so, the penalty should
be recalculated to reflect this new information. This new information could affect the following
areas:

. Ability to pay (to the extent this was not considered in calculating the initial penalty
target figure);

. Adjustments used in calculating the initial penalty target figure; and

. Reassess the preliminary deterrence amount to reflect continued periods of
noncompliance not reflected in the original calculation.

The initial penalty target figure, when further adjusted during negotiations based on this new
information, yields the adjusted penalty target figure.
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